FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 10/15/2020 4:19 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/16/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>99125-1</u> Court of Appeals No. 52401-5-II

IN THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

RICKY RAY SEXTON,

Appellant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

RICHARD W. LECHICH Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711
richard@washapp.org
wapofficemail@washapp.org

C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
D.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED5
	1. Without demanding admittance, a SWAT team forcibly entered Mr. Sexton's home. This did not comply with the knock and announce rule, and no exigency excused non-compliance. This Court should grant review to so hold and to ensure that SWAT teams abide by the knock and announce rule
	a. The knock and announce rule was not complied with. An announcement over a loudspeaker of "get on the ground" is not a demand for admittance
	b. Exigent circumstances did not excuse non-compliance with the knock and announce rule. A person going inside a home when they see the police in their neighborhood does not create exigent circumstance 11
	c. Review is warranted
	2. The jury instructions defining "possession" commented on the evidence in violation of our state constitution. Review should be granted to reaffirm that jury instructions should not be crafted on sufficiency of the evidence caselaw
E.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

United States Supreme Court

<u>Richards v. Wisconsin</u> , 520 U.S. 385, 117 S. Ct. 1416, 137 L. Ed. 2d 615 (1997)		
Washington Supreme Court		
<u>State v. Brush</u> , 183 Wn.2d 550, 353 P.3d 213 (2015)		
<u>State v. Cardenas</u> , 146 Wn.2d 400, 47 P.3d 127 (2002)		
State v. Coyle, 95 Wn.2d 1, 621 P.2d 1256 (1980) 5, 6, 7, 15		
<u>State v. Partin</u> , 88 Wn.2d 899, 567 P.2d 1136 (1977)		
State v. Richards, 136 Wn.2d 361, 962 P.2d 118 (1998) 10, 11		
Washington Court of Appeals		
State v. Carson, 21 Wn. App. 318, 584, P.2d 990 (1978)		
State v. Dugger, 12 Wn. App. 74, 528 P.2d 274 (1974)		
<u>State v. Edwards</u> , 20 Wn. App. 648, 581 P.2d 154 (1978)		
State v. Ellis, 21 Wn. App. 123, 584 P.2d 428 (1978)		
State v. Jeter, 30 Wn. App. 360, 634 P.2d 312 (1981)		
<u>State v. Johnson</u> , 11 Wn. App. 311, 522 P.2d 1179 (1974)		
<u>State v. Johnson</u> , 94 Wn. App. 882, 974 P.2d 855 (1999)		
State v. Lehman, 40 Wn. App. 400, 698 P.2d 606 (1985)		
<u>State v. Lowrie</u> , 12 Wn. App. 155, 528 P.2d 1010 (1974)		
<u>State v. Ortiz</u> , 196 Wn. App. 301, 383 P.3d 586 (2016) passim		
State v. Shumaker, 142 Wn. App. 330, 174 P.3d 1214 (2007)		
State v. Sinrud, 200 Wn. App. 643, 649, 403 P.3d 96 (2017) 17, 19, 20		

State v. Spargo, 30 Wn. App. 949, 639 P.2d 782 (1982)	15	
Other Cases		
State v. Jean-Paul, 295 P.3d 1072 (N.M. Ct. App. 2013)	8, 11, 12, 13	
State v. Williams, 114 N.M. 485, 840 P.2d 1251 (1992)	12	
<u>United States v. Bates</u> , 84 F.3d 790 (6th Cir. 1996)	14	
<u>United States v. Smith</u> , 386 F.3d 753 (6th Cir. 2004)	15	
Z.J. by & through Jones v. Kansas City Bd. of Police Commiss F.3d 672 (8th Cir. 2019)		
Constitutional Provisions		
Const. art. IV, § 16	17	
Rules		
RAP 13.4(b)(1)	16, 20	
RAP 13.4(b)(2)	16, 20	
RAP 13.4(b)(3)	16, 20	
RAP 13.4(b)(4)	16, 20	

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Ricky Sexton, the petitioner, asks this Court to grant review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review. Notwithstanding that a SWAT team forcibly invaded Mr. Sexton's home without complying with the constitutional rule of knock and announce, the Court of Appeals affirmed the denial of Mr. Sexton's motion to suppress. This Court should grant review to ensure that when a SWAT team executes a warrant, they comply with the constitutional command of knock and announce. The Court of Appeals' opinion, along with the order denying Mr. Sexton's motion for reconsideration, are attached in the appendix.¹

B. ISSUES FOR WHICH REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. Even with a warrant, before police enter a home without permission, they must comply with the knock and announce rule. Without demanding or giving an opportunity to be admitted, a SWAT team immediately disembarked from their armored vehicle and conducted a militarized invasion of Mr. Sexton's home. As a dozen officers charged at the home, a loudspeaker stated: "This is the police, we have a search warrant, *get on the ground.*" By not demanding admittance, did the SWAT team fail to comply with the knock and announce rule?

¹The unpublished opinion was issued on August 4, 2020. The order denying the motion to reconsider was issue on September 15, 2020.

- 2. Exigency may excuse noncompliance with the knock and announce rule. Suspected drug activity does not create an exigency unless there is reasonable belief of destruction of evidence. The presence of a firearm does not create exigency unless a person inside the home has a propensity for violence. That a person sees the police and goes into a home does not create an exigency. Did the court err in ruling exigency was proved because (1) the warrant was for drugs; (2) there was reason to believe Mr. Sexton possessed a firearm, but no reason to believe he had propensity for violence; and (3) a person on the porch of the home went inside when he saw the SWAT team arrive in the neighborhood?
- 3. Legal definitions should not be fashioned out of caselaw concerning the sufficiency of the evidence. Doing so constitutes a comment on the evidence. In instructing the jury on the meaning of "dominion and control," the court identified three factors to consider.

 These factors were derived from caselaw analyzing whether the evidence was sufficient to support a finding of "dominion and control."

 In highlighting three factors for the jury to consider and implying that any one factor could be controlling, did the court comment on the evidence?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Based on representations from an unnamed informant, the Pierce County Sheriff's Department obtained a warrant to search Ricky Ray Sexton's residence for methamphetamine. Suppression Exs. 1-2. The warrant was obtained on March 3, 2017. Suppression Ex. 2.

Shortly before dawn on March 9, a SWAT team invaded Mr. Sexton's home. CP 121; 2/13/18 & 2/14/18 RP 31. The SWAT team arrived outside Mr. Sexton's home in an armored vehicle. CP 121 (undisputed fact #10). As surveillance video from Mr. Sexton's residence shows, members of the SWAT team immediately disembarked the vehicle and ran towards the home:



Post-Trial Ex. 1 ("IMG_0320"); 3/25/17 RP 17. Two of the officers saw a man on the porch, who looked at them and went inside.² 2/13/18 &

² The surveillance footage shows a man arrive and park outside the home about 30 seconds before the armored vehicle arrived. Post-Trial Ex. 1 ("IMG_0320"). Before the SWAT team arrived, the man went to the porch. Post-Trial Ex. 1 ("IMG_0320" & "IMG_321").

2/14/18 RP 24, 54. About ten seconds after their arrival, the officer in the lead can be seen throwing a flash bang grenade toward the home:



Post-Trial Ex. 1 ("IMG_0320"). The SWAT team immediately broke down Mr. Sexton's door and entered the residence. 2/13/18 & 2/14/18 RP 35, 57. They also broke the windows of the home and threw flash-bang grenades inside. 2/13/18 & 2/14/18 RP 77; 2/13/18 RP 9, 32-33, 74-76.

Based on evidence obtained from the home invasion, the State charged Mr. Sexton with two counts of possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver, unlawful possession of a controlled substance, and unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 3-4.

Mr. Sexton moved to suppress the evidence. CP 5-36. He argued police had failed to comply with the knock and announce rule. CP 8-14. The court denied his motion. CP 120-27.

At trial, over Mr. Sexton's objection, the court provided the jury instructions identifying three factors the jury might consider in determining whether Mr. Sexton "possessed" the substances and the firearm. 2/27/18 RP 147-48; 2/28/18 RP 4-5; CP 61, 76.

The jury found Mr. Sexton guilty of the charges. CP 84-86, 88, 90-91. The Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED.

- 1. Without demanding admittance, a SWAT team forcibly entered Mr. Sexton's home. This did not comply with the knock and announce rule, and no exigency excused non-compliance. This Court should grant review to so hold and to ensure that SWAT teams abide by the knock and announce rule.
 - a. The knock and announce rule was not complied with. An announcement over a loudspeaker of "get on the ground" is not a demand for admittance.

Under article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution, before the police enter a person's home without consent, the police must comply with the "knock and announce rule." State v. Coyle, 95 Wn.2d 1, 6, 621 P.2d 1256 (1980); State v. Ortiz, 196 Wn. App. 301, 307, 383 P.3d 586 (2016). The constitutional rule is codified by statute: "To make an arrest in criminal actions, the officer may break open any outer or inner door, or windows of a dwelling house or other building, or any other inclosure, if, after notice of his or her office and purpose, he or she be refused admittance." RCW 10.31.040 (emphasis added). Before entering, the

police must announce their identity, demand they be permitted entry, announce their purpose in demanding entry, and be denied entry. <u>Coyle</u>, 95 Wn.2d at 6. The waiting period depends on what is reasonable under the circumstances. Ortiz, 196 Wn. App. at 308.

"[T]he purpose of the constitutional knock-and-announce requirement is to allow a citizen the chance to come to the door and allow entrance to an officer who is legally entitled to enter." Z.J. by & through Jones v. Kansas City Bd. of Police Commissioners, 931 F.3d 672, 683 (8th Cir. 2019) (citing Wilson v. Arkansas, 514 U.S. 927, 931-39, 115 S. Ct. 1914, 1918, 131 L. Ed. 2d 976 (1995)). Unannounced breaking and entering creates a grave risk of danger to the police and residents because people may take defensive measures when they do not know who is entering their home. State v. Lowrie, 12 Wn. App. 155, 157, 528 P.2d 1010 (1974). "Announcing your identity as you kick in the door is not compliance with the general rule." Id.

Absent an exception, such as exigent circumstances, strict compliance is required. Ortiz, 196 Wn. App. at 308. The State bears the burden to show compliance with the knock and announce rule or exigent circumstances excusing noncompliance. Coyle, 95 Wn.2d at 8-9; State v. Ellis, 21 Wn. App. 123, 125, 584 P.2d 428 (1978). There is no blanket exception to the knock and announce rule when the criminal activity

suspected concerns illicit drugs. <u>Richards v. Wisconsin</u>, 520 U.S. 385, 388, 117 S. Ct. 1416, 137 L. Ed. 2d 615 (1997).

The remedy for an unexcused violation of the knock and announce procedure is suppression of the evidence obtained by the violation. <u>Coyle</u>, 95 Wn.2d at 14; <u>Ortiz</u>, 196 Wn. App. at 308.

In this case, the SWAT team invaded Mr. Sexton's residence around 5:19 a.m. CP 121 (undisputed fact # 6). According to the three officers who testified at the hearing, an unidentified member of their team called "compromise" as they approached the residence. 2/13/18 & 2/14/18 RP 29, 55, 90, 93. This meant that the SWAT team had lost their element of "surprise." 2/13/18 & 2/14/18 RP 46-47. Two officers who testified at the hearing theorized "compromise" had been called because a man on the porch had seen them and gone inside. 2/13/18 & 2/14/18 RP 25, 54.

Within three to five seconds, an officer immediately broke down Mr. Sexton's door down with a ram. 2/13/18 & 2/14/18 RP 35, 57. He testified, "I did not do a knock and announce on this." 2/13/18 & 2/14/18 RP 59.

The driver of the armored vehicle testified that once "compromise" was called, he began announcing on the audio system, "This is the police, we have a search warrant, get on the ground." 2/13/18 & 2/14/18 RP 91

(emphasis added).³

Notwithstanding these facts, the Court of Appeals held that the SWAT team *complied* with the knock and announce rule. According to the Court, when law enforcement said, "get on the ground," this was a demand for admittance. Slip op. at 10-11. This makes no sense.

Moreover, even if the words "get on the ground" could be interpreted to mean "open the door," there is no way to comply with that command in 5 to 15 seconds, as in this case. The utterance itself, "this is the police, we have a search warrant, get on the ground," takes about three seconds to say in an intelligible manner. By the time that is processed by a person's brain and before the person can get to the door, 5 to 15 seconds will have elapsed, and the door will have already been battered down by the SWAT team. See State v. Jean-Paul, 295 P.3d 1072, 1085 (N.M. Ct. App. 2013) ("the appropriate starting point [for measuring the time between the announcement and entry] is from the time that the first announcement of the police's presence and purpose has been completed").

In reasoning that the announcement—"This is the police, we have

³ Mr. Sexton assigned error to many of the trial court's findings of fact and has explained why they are erroneous or not supported by substantial evidence. Br. of App. at 2, 13-16. The prosecution did not contest *any* of these challenges. Br. of Resp't at 20-23. For example, the trial court erroneously found that the PA (public address) system announcement stated "open the door." CP 123 (disputed fact #6). As the prosecution conceded, the announcement actually stated, "get on the ground." Br. of App. at 15-16; Br. of Resp't at 7, 23. The Court of Appeals appears to have agreed as well.

a search warrant, *get on the ground*"—was a demand for admittance, the appellate court asserted a "police officer who identifies himself and announces that he has a search warrant has implicitly demanded admission." Slip op. at 10 (quoting State v. Johnson, 94 Wn. App. 882, 889, 974 P.2d 855 (1999)). But in Johnson, the police actually knocked at the door, and they did not tell the people inside "to get on the ground." 94 Wn. App. at 887.

The case cited by the <u>Johnson</u> court is <u>State v. Lehman</u>, 40 Wn. App. 400, 404, 698 P.2d 606 (1985). There, the police also actually knocked on the door and a person opened the door, but the police did not wait for express permission to enter. <u>Lehman</u>, 40 Wn. App. at 401-02. The Court of Appeals held there was an implied demand for admission:

A statement by police officers identifying themselves and advising that they possess a search warrant is implicitly a demand for admission into the house. To wait for a grant or denial of admission when the occupant has opened the door would serve no purpose. At that point, the police can legally enter the premises whether permission to enter is granted or denied. The officers complied with the rule's requirements by giving notice of their authority and purpose to the person in apparent control of the premises.

Id. at 404 (emphasis added).

But here a dozen SWAT officers immediately charged at Mr.

Sexton's house upon arrival, threw flashbang grenades⁴ as they charged, and promptly battered in Mr. Sexton's door. Post-Trial Ex. 1 ("IMG 0320").

The Court of Appeals reasoned that the announcement in this case is similar to the one approved in <u>State v. Richards</u>, 136 Wn.2d 361, 962 P.2d 118 (1998). Slip. op. at 10. There, a police officer shouted through a screen door, "Hey, Grant," and the resident looked at the officer. <u>Richards</u>, 136 Wn.2d at 365. After the resident looked at the officer, the officer stated shouted, "Police. We have a search warrant," and entered through the screen door. <u>Id.</u>

Again, the circumstances are completely different from this case.

The officer notified the resident they were police and had a warrant. No damage was done by opening the sliding glass door. Here, the announcement was not conveyed to the man that the police saw outside on porch, who had gone inside by the time of the announcement. And the police caused great damage to Mr. Sexton's home.

As the <u>Richards</u> Court noted, "each case must be evaluated on its own facts." <u>Id.</u> at 376. In this case, the Court of Appeals took statements

⁴SWAT teams executing warrants have critically injured or caused severe psychological damage to children through their use of flashbang grenades. <u>Z.J.</u>, 931 F.3d at 678-80; The New York Times, Stephen Hiltner, *How a Grenade in a Playpen Led to an Investigative Project*, (Mar. 18, 2017) available at https://www.nytimes.com/2017/03/18/insider/kevin-sack-no-knock-baby-bou.html.

of law out of the factual context in which they were made. And the Court failed to give adequate weight to the fact that the announcement in this case told the those inside Mr. Sexton's house to *get on the ground*. This is contradictory to a demand for admittance.

Even if the announcement had said "open the door," there was not a reasonable time to comply so that property would not needlessly damaged. Ortiz, 196 Wn. App. at 312; Jean-Paul, 295 P.3d at 1085. The Richards case that the Court relied on is plainly inapposite because in that case the police peacefully opened a sliding screen door, and their entry did not create any "danger of violence or property damage." 136 Wn.2d at 378. The circumstances of that case are a far cry from what occurred here, where a paramilitary force charged at Mr. Sexton's house, immediately battered down the door, and set off explosive devices which have the ability may maim and injure.

The Court of Appeals' determination that law enforcement complied with the knock and announce rule was fundamentally wrong.

b. Exigent circumstances did not excuse non-compliance with the knock and announce rule. A person going inside a home when they see the police in their neighborhood does not create exigent circumstance.

Exigency may be shown "a demonstrable risk that evidence will be destroyed while the officers wait to be denied entry, or specific

information indicating that the danger to the officers executing the warrant will be increased, rather than decreased, if the officers comply with the rule." <u>Jean-Paul</u>, 295 P.3d at 1078 (cleaned up).

Here, a man on the porch of Mr. Sexton's home saw the SWAT team arrive in the neighborhood in their armed vehicle. Before any announcement about a warrant, he went inside. A member of the SWAT team called out the phrase "compromise," and about a dozen SWAT officers immediately disembarked from the armored vehicle, forcibly entering Mr. Sexton's home about 5 to 15 seconds later.

The Court of Appeals reasoned that this supported a determination of exigent circumstances. But "the mere fact that officers have been observed by a home's occupants does not relieve them of the knock-and-announce requirement." Jean-Paul, 295 P.3d at 1078); accord State v.

Williams, 114 N.M. 485, 487-89, 840 P.2d 1251 (1992) (applying the knock-and-announce rule despite the fact that the occupants of a home made eye contact with members of a SWAT team as they approached the house). This is because the fact that a person has observed police outside the door of a home does not, in the absence of other evidence, lead to a reasonable belief that the person knows that the police have a warrant that permits them to enter." Jean-Paul, 295 P.3d at 1080. In other words, the "fact that someone has simply seen the police does not generally provide a

factual basis for a reasonable suspicion that the occupant knows that the officers have authority to enter pursuant to a warrant." <u>Id.</u> (citing 2 Wayne R. LaFave, *Search and Seizure: A Treatise on the Fourth Amendment* § 4.8(f), at 693 (4th ed. 2004 & Supp. 2011))

As the New Mexico appellate court explains, a contrary rule would require citizens to throw open their door for the police simply when they see the police approaching in order to avoid forcible entry:

Such a rule would require every person—whether guest or resident—who sees officers approaching a home to immediately go to the door and open it in order to avoid a forcible entry. People are not generally required to throw open their door to the police, and it is the announcement of the fact that the police have authority to enter pursuant to a warrant that alerts a person that it is lawful for the police to enter a premises regardless of the occupants' wishes. See Commonwealth v. Carlton 549 Pa. 174, 701 A.2d 143, 147 (1997) ("[T]here is no requirement that anyone open the door to their dwelling in the absence of police statement of their authority and purpose. In a free society, the mere presence of police does not require an individual to throw open the doors to his house and cower submissively before the uniformed authority of the state."). Until the police announce that they have a warrant, the occupants have no reason to believe that the police may forcibly enter and thus no reason to believe that they must answer the door if they wish to avoid a forcible breach.

Jean-Paul, 295 P.3d at 1078.

Thus, contrary to the Court of Appeals' decision, that the SWAT team saw a man go inside Mr. Sexton's house when they arrived in their armored vehicle did not create exigent circumstances. Br of App. at 17-18;

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