FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/24/2021 4:05 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 99125-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

RICKY RAY SEXTON,

Petitioner.

Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 17-1-00988-3

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

Kristie Barham Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 32764 / OID # 91121 930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-6746

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. There is no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b) where the Court of Appeals followed well-established law in concluding that the officers complied with the knock and announce rule and that the expedited entry was justified based on exigent circumstances.

Prior to executing the search warrant, the officers repeatedly announced their identity and purpose and implicitly demanded admittance,

and the delay in entering the residence was reasonable. The Court of Appeals properly concluded that the officers complied with the knock and announce rule. The Court also properly concluded that exigent circumstances justified an expedited entry into the residence where the safety of the operation was jeopardized after the man saw the SWAT team approach and ran into the residence, and where Sexton was known to carry a firearm and the evidence could be easily and quickly destroyed. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any Washington appellate decisions under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or 13.4(b)(2). And the petition does not involve a significant question of constitutional law under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or an issue of substantial public importance under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Given the well-settled case law addressing the fact pattern presented by this case, Sexton resorts to referencing the national outrage regarding the tragic death of Breonna Taylor, who was shot in Kentucky when plainclothes officers executed a "no-knock" warrant. In stark contrast to the Taylor case, the officers in Sexton's case repeatedly announced themselves over a loud PA system as they approached the door. As a result, there is no basis for a comparison to the Taylor case. This Court should deny review.

1. The Court of Appeals properly concluded that the officers complied with the knock and announce rule.

Both the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, § 7 of the Washington Constitution require that the police comply

with the knock and announce rule before entering a residence without consent. *State v. Ortiz*, 196 Wn. App. 301, 307, 383 P.3d 586 (2016). Washington has codified this requirement in RCW 10.31.040, which provides that officers may break open any door or window of a house or building if, "after notice of his or her office and purpose, he or she be refused admittance." To comply with the statute, the police must announce their identity and purpose, demand admittance, and be explicitly or implicitly denied admittance. *State v. Coyle*, 95 Wn.2d 1, 6, 621 P.2d 1256 (1980). The requirement of a demand for admittance and an explicit or implicit denial of admittance have been merged into a "waiting period." *State v. Richards*, 136 Wn.2d 361, 370, 962 P.2d 118 (1998). A denial of admittance is not required when waiting for a response would be a "useless gesture." *State v. Garcia-Hernandez*, 67 Wn. App. 492, 495 n.1, 837 P.2d 624 (1992).

Whether an officer waited a reasonable time before entering a residence is a factual determination to be made by the trial court and depends on the circumstances of the case. *Richards*, 136 Wn.2d at 374. The reasonableness of the waiting period is evaluated in light of the purposes of the rules, which are: (1) the reduction of potential violence that might arise from an unannounced entry, (2) prevention of unnecessary property damage, and (3) protection of an occupant's right to privacy. *Id.* at 371-72.

Sexton focuses on his assertion that the announcement told the occupants to "get on the ground" rather than "open the door." But the rule does not require in every case that the police literally knock on the door and make an explicit demand for admission. Rather, as the Court of Appeals properly explained, the relevant inquiry is whether the officers effectuated the purpose of the rule and waited a reasonable time before entering the residence. *See Richards*, 136 Wn.2d at 372-74. A police officer who identifies himself and announces that he has a search warrant has implicitly demanded admission. *State v. Johnson*, 94 Wn. App. 882, 889, 974 P.2d 855 (1999); *State v. Lehman*, 40 Wn. App. 400, 404, 698 P.2d 606 (1985).

Here, there was no unannounced entry—the officers repeatedly announced their identity and purpose, including over a PA system. CP 123-26. They repeatedly yelled "police, search warrant" as they are trained to announce throughout the entire service of the search warrant. 1RP 30, 34-35; *see* 1RP 57. Deputy Bautista testified that he repeatedly announced their identity and purpose over the loud PA system by repeatedly stating, "this is the police, we have a search warrant, get on the ground." 1RP 83-86, 91. He explained that he used the phrase "get on the ground" because the operation had been compromised and he wanted to let the occupants know "exactly who we were and what our purpose was." 1RP 91.

The Court of Appeals properly noted that the announcement was similar to the announcement in Richards where the officer announced simply, "Police. We have a search warrant" and this Court concluded that the announcement constituted an implicit demand for entry. See Richards, 136 Wn.2d at 365, 372-74. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the officers announced their identity and purpose and implicitly demanded admission by telling the occupants they had a search warrant and to get on the ground. See Sexton, 2020 WL 4463525, at *5. The officers took sufficient steps to reduce the potential for violence by repeatedly announcing their identity and purpose, and their valid search warrant significantly reduced Sexton's expectation of privacy. See Garcia-Hernandez, 67 Wn. App. at 496-97. Further, nothing in the record indicates that the occupants were sleeping. Sexton testified that the lights and radio were on and the occupants were awake, and one of his witnesses testified that the occupants were using drugs. See 2RP 7-8, 19, 31, 56-64, 83-88.

Washington courts have held that a delay of 5 to 10 seconds after the police announce their presence and purpose is a reasonable time to comply with the knock and announce rule. *See, e.g., Johnson*, 94 Wn. App. at 889-91. In *Garcia-Hernandez*, the court held that officers substantially complied with the knock and announce rule by yelling "police, search warrant" and that the delay of 5 seconds was reasonable where the people

on the porch may have alerted the defendant to their presence. *Garcia-Hernandez*, 67 Wn. App. at 494, 496-98. The court explained that the defendant's failure to respond during the 5-second delay was an implicit denial of admission. *Id.* at 498. In *State v. Schmidt*, 48 Wn. App. 639, 643-46, 740 P.2d 351 (1987), the court held that the knock and announce rule was not violated when the officers failed to specifically demand entry and that the 3-second delay after the knock and announce and before entry was reasonable where barking dogs may have alerted the occupants of the officers' approach.

As this Court explained in *Richards*, the knock and announce rule does not require the police to wait longer when doing so would be futile: "To wait for grant or denial of admission after an occupant has been made aware of a police officer's presence and purpose would serve no logical purpose. The police officer is already authorized by the search warrant to enter the premises without permission from the occupant." *Richards*, 136 Wn.2d at 378.

Given the factually dependent nature of the inquiry, the Court of Appeals properly deferred to the trial court's evaluation of the credibility of the officers and agreed with the trial court that the 15-second delay in entering Sexton's residence was reasonable under the circumstances. *See Sexton*, 2020 WL 4463525, at *6. The Court of Appeals followed well-

established law in determining that the officers adequately announced their presence and purpose and waited a reasonable amount of time before entering the residence. "It would have served no logical purpose for the officers to delay their entry any longer where they were already broadcasting their presence and purpose over a loudspeaker." *Id.* The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the officers complied with the knock and announce rule.

2. The Court of Appeals properly concluded that exigent circumstances justified expedited entry after the officers announced their identity and purpose.

Strict compliance with the knock and announce rule is not required if exigent circumstances exist or compliance would be futile. *Richards*, 136 Wn.2d at 372. Strict compliance is not required if the State can show that the police had "a reasonable suspicion that knocking and announcing their presence, under the particular circumstances, would be dangerous or futile, or that it would inhibit the effective investigation of the crime by, for example, allowing the destruction of evidence." *State v. Cardenas*, 146 Wn.2d 400, 411, 47 P.3d 127 (2002).

Here, a man on the porch saw the SWAT team approaching Sexton's house and immediately "bolt[ed]" inside the house and slammed the door. 1RP 53-55; *see also* 1RP 24-26, 68. The SWAT team was involved with serving the warrant because it was identified as "high risk" based on the

criteria in the threat assessment form, including that Sexton was known to carry a firearm and had a dog roaming the property as a potential warning signal for counter surveillance. *See* 1RP 8-12, 15-23, 27-28, 49-50, 52. The officers repeatedly announced their presence by yelling "police, search warrant, police, search warrant." 1RP 26-27, 30, 34-36, 64-65; *see* 1RP 44, 47, 57, 61-62. And approximately 15 seconds elapsed from the time the officer started the loud announcement over the PA system until entry into the residence. 1RP 83-86; CP 126.²

Sexton cites extensively to *State v. Jean-Paul*, 295 P.3d 1072 (N.M. Ct. App. 2013), a New Mexico case concluding that a wait of only one to five seconds after knocking and announcing violated the New Mexico constitution. *Jean-Paul* does not provide a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b).

In *Jean-Paul*, the court's explanation that "the mere fact that officers have been observed by a home's occupants does not relieve them of the knock-and-announce requirement" focused on the fact that it is the *announcement of the warrant* that alerts a person that it is lawful for the police to enter regardless of his wishes. *Jean-Paul*, 295 P.3d at 1078. The

-

² Although there was conflicting testimony on how much time elapsed, the trial court found the testimony that 15 seconds elapsed credible, and the Court of Appeals determined that the testimony adequately supported the court's finding of a 15-second delay. CP 126; *Sexton*, 2020 WL 4463525, at *5.

court explained that the occupant observed an officer outside the home and merely moved away from the window without "running or taking other action that would suggest a frantic response" to the police presence. *Id.* at 1083-84. And the court explained that an affirmative act by an occupant of the premises demonstrating refusal to admit police—such as saying "Oh shit!" after seeing officers approach the house and attempting to close the door—renders futile any further efforts by the police to knock and announce. *Id.* at 1078-79. *Jean-Paul* is distinguishable from Sexton's case where the officers repeatedly announced their identity and purpose and where the man on the porch made an affirmative act after seeing the SWAT team by running into the residence and slamming the door, thereby suggesting "a frantic response" that made further efforts by the police to knock and announce their presence futile.

Sexton did not cite to *Jean-Paul* below, but the Court of Appeals properly distinguished the Washington cases relied on by Sexton. In *State* v. *Edwards*, 20 Wn. App. 648, 581 P.2d 154 (1978), a man appeared at a window then quickly disappeared after *plainclothes* officers knocked on the door—the officers did not announce either their identity or purpose until they kicked in the door. Similarly, in *State* v. *Ellis*, 21 Wn. App. 123, 125-26, 584 P.2d 428 (1978), *plainclothes* officers knocked on the door and used a ruse to get the defendant to open the door. The court explained that it was

understandable that the defendant, upon discovering the deception, instinctively closed the door to protect himself and that these ambiguous circumstances did not create exigent circumstances to excuse compliance with the knock and announce rule. *Id.* at 127-29. In Sexton's case, the man on the porch observed the SWAT team in full uniform and then bolted inside the residence and slammed the door. *See* 1RP 17, 53-55. This compromised the approach of the officers who then repeatedly announced their identity and purpose before forcing entry into the residence approximately 15 seconds later. *See* CP 126; *see also Sexton*, 2020 WL 4463525, at *5 (testimony supported trial court's finding that approximately 15 seconds elapsed between announcement and entry).

Exigent circumstances justified entry after the officers announced their identity and purpose, particularly where the evidence could be easily destroyed and where they waited a reasonable time before entering. In *State v. Wilson*, 9 Wn. App. 909, 913, 515 P.2d 832 (1973), officers knocked and announced their identity and purpose and waited 10 seconds before forcing entry. The court held that the forcible entry was reasonable in light of the officer's justified concern for their safety where they knew the defendant carried a gun and was an experienced drug dealer with several narcotics convictions who had served time in prison and where there was concern that the evidence would be destroyed. *Id.* at 912-15.

Here, the officers had reasonable grounds to be concerned for their safety because Sexton was known to carry a firearm and was an experienced drug dealer with six prior felony narcotics convictions. *See* CP 18-19; 1RP 18-19. Further, when the man ran inside and slammed the door, that added an element of urgency and jeopardized the safety of the entire operation, including the safety of the officers and every person inside the residence. *See* 1RP 26-28, 36, 45-47, 83. As Deputy Nielsen testified, "now they have the ability to go arm themselves or possibly destroy evidence." 1RP 46.

The Court of Appeals properly concluded that it was reasonable for the officers to conclude that the man on the porch fled inside to warn the other occupants. The Court of Appeals also properly concluded that the officers were reasonably concerned for their safety based on the threat assessment, which included knowledge that Sexton had a firearm, and that the totality of circumstances justified expedited entry into the residence to avoid endangering the safety of the officers, occupants, and operation. *See Sexton*, 2020 WL 4463525, at *7; *see also Cardenas*, 146 Wn.2d at 412 (exigent circumstances justified warrantless entry where officers reasonably believed suspects were armed and had used force against the robbery victims and where they observed the suspects running away from the door and the evidence was easily disposable).

The Court of Appeals properly distinguished *State v. Dugger*, 12 Wn. App. 74, 528 P.2d 274 (1974) where the officers forced entry into a home without a search warrant, without knocking or announcing their presence, and without any evidence that the defendant possessed a weapon. In *Dugger*, the court concluded that the mere possibility of destruction of evidence and a general fear for officer safety without any reasonable grounds to support the concern did not create exigent circumstances. *Dugger*, 12 Wn. App. at 81-83.

The Court of Appeals properly relied on *State v. Carson*, 21 Wn. App. 318, 584 P.2d 990 (1978) to support its analysis. There, the court held that the officers' forcible no-knock entry was justified during execution of the search warrant where they had prior information that the defendant kept a shotgun by the door for protection when selling narcotics and saw him quickly close the door and move away when he saw the officers. *Id.* at 321-22. The court explained that this could reasonably be interpreted as creating a risk that evidence would be destroyed or that officers' lives were in danger and that "neither common sense nor law requires an officer to ignore such a warning." *Id.* at 322.

The trial court properly determined that exigent circumstances justified an expedited entry into Sexton's residence where the safety of the operation was jeopardized after the man saw the SWAT team approach and

ran into the residence and where Sexton was known to carry a firearm and the evidence could be easily and quickly destroyed. *See* CP 121-26. The Court of Appeals properly concluded that the trial court's findings support its conclusion that exigent circumstances justified an expedited entry into Sexton's residence. There is no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b).

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